
 
SEDA Board of Directors Meeting  

Agenda  
Tuesday, April 9, 2024 

11:00 AM 
 
 

I.   Call to Order         Ford 
 
 
II. Approval of Minutes        Ford 

A. Approval of Minutes from February 13, 2024 Board Meeting   
 
 

III. Financial Report         Ford  
A. Approval of January and February 2024 Financials 
B. Presentation and Approval of 2023 Audited Financial Statements 

 
 

IV. President’s Report         Tollison 
 
 

V. Executive Session         Ford 
 
 

VI. Action Items         Ford 
A. Approval of Great Dane Land Swap 
B. Approval of Forsyth Holdings Development Agreement 

 
 

VII. Comments for the Good of the Order      Ford 
 
 

VIII. Adjourn         Ford 



1 
 

PROPOSED MINUTES 
Savannah Economic Development Authority 

Board Meeting    
 February 13, 2024  

11:00 AM 
SEDA Board Room 

 
PRESENT 
Board of Directors: Audrey King, Paul Hinchey, Greg Parker, Joyce Roche’, Kal Patel, Kay Ford, 
Kevin Jackson, Ruel Joyner, Steve Green, Trey Thompson, Charles Roberson, Scott Center, Robert 
James, Karen Bogans 

 
SEDA Employees: Trip Tollison, Katelyn Satterthwaite, Angela Hendrix, Jesse Dillon, Mark Sprosty, 
Jennifer Collins, Liz Ely, Katie Schuck, Leigh Ryan, Chris Ahearn, Walker Dalton, Caleb Kitchings, 
Zach Ott, Maria Whitfield, Justin Farquhar, Anna Chafin, Antwonne Mohammed 
 
Guests: Adam Fins, Courtney Rawlins, Gaye Reese, Jay Melder, Xavier Miranda, Jason Coley, Dorie 
Bacon, Mary Dugas, Cheri Dean, Ashley Chisholm, Liz McFadyen, Kaitlin Lance, Joseph 
Schwartzburt, Lindsie Moschner, Adam Ragsdale, Isabela deLira, Michael Owens, William Mock, 
Madelen Salter, Anthony Prescott, Joe Marinelli, Adam Van Brimmer, Karen Williams, Megan 
Pittman, Darnell Naylor-Johnson, Patricia Perry    

 
Counsel: Jon Pannell 

    
CALL TO ORDER 
Chairman Kay Ford called the meeting to order at 11:00 a.m. with thanking everyone for being here 
this morning.  

 
Ms. Ford asked Katelyn Satterthwaite if the meeting was posted, and the media notified in accordance 
with the Georgia Open Meetings Law. Ms. Satterthwaite responded yes. She then asked Ms. 
Satterthwaite if there was a quorum present to which Ms. Satterthwaite responded yes. 
 
Ms. Ford asked that everyone in the room introduce themselves. 

 
ACTION ITEMS  

 
A) Approval of Minutes from January 4, 2024 

Ms. Ford asked if there were any comments or corrections to the proposed minutes from the 
January 4, 2024, Board Meeting that were sent via an email notification to the board members on 
Wednesday February 7, 2024. There were no comments or corrections. 

 
MOTION was made by Kevin Jackson to approve the minutes of the January 4, 2024, Board Meeting. 
The motion was seconded by Joyce Roche’. The board approved the minutes by unanimous vote. 

 
B) Approval of November and December 2023 Financials 

Ms. Ford stated that the SEDA financial statements for November and December 2023 were sent 
via an email notification to board members on Wednesday February 7, 2024. She then called on 
Mark Sprosty for comments. 
The November 2023 Statement of Assets, Liabilities & Net Assets records $10m in operating cash, 
a decrease of $783k from October. South State Veterans Parkway decreased slightly and the GEFA 
account increased $38k. The market value of investments increased $1.2m after making up for three 



2 
 

straight months with losses. The account value at month end is $24.2m. Real Property Held for Sale 
or Development increased $828k for progress on road and water tank in the Savannah Chatham 
Manufacturing Center. Deferred Costs decreased to $704k, representing the amount of billing that 
has been invoiced but not yet recognized. PILOT Payable decreased for funds received and passed 
through to the county. The November 2023 Statement of Revenues & Expenses records Net 
Ordinary Loss of $133k. The loss is mainly due to Local Film Incentives expensed in November. 
Non-Operating Revenue was $1.25m and Net Income was $1.1m in November. Year to Date (YTD) 
Net Ordinary Income is $1.1m after eleven months of operations. YTD Non-Operating Income is 
just under $2.4m and YTD Net Income is $3.5m. The December 2023 Statement of Assets, 
Liabilities & Net Assets records $9.8m in Operating Cash. Funds held for Veterans Parkway 
Interchange decreased by $3k and Funds held for the West Chatham Water and Sewer in 
Bloomingdale increased $136k. The market value of investments increased $915k and ended the 
year at $25m. Real Property Held for Sale or Development increased $647k for progress on road 
and water tank in the Savannah Chatham Manufacturing Center. Deferred Income increased $151k 
due to 2024 Infrastructure Fees billed before year end as requested from customers. The December 
2023 Statement of Revenues & Expenses records a $544k Net Income for the month. Net Ordinary 
Loss of $404k is mainly due to the Film Incentive accrued in December. Non-Operating Income of 
$948k for the month is attributable to investment gains. Year to Date (YTD) Ordinary Income is 
$737k, $155k over the $582k budget. YTD Non-Operating Revenue is $3.3m versus the $500k 
budget. YTD Net Income for 2023 is $4m and $3m better than budget. 
 
Kevin Jackson asked when the audit will be conducted. Mark and Trip both responded that the final 
audit will be presented at the April Board meeting. There were no further questions or comments 
from the board.  

 
MOTION was made by Kal Patel to approve the November and December 2023 financial statements. 
The motion was seconded by Scott Center. The board approved the financials by unanimous vote. 
 
C) Approval of Nominating Committee Report  

It was reported at the November board meeting that the SEDA Nominating Committee needed to 
be formed to recommend one appointment to the SEDA Board of Directors. The members of the 
committee were also announced at the November board meeting. It was reported that SEDA has 
one opening to fill. The committee recommends that the SEDA board approves re-appointing Trey 
Thompson to the board.  

 
Ms. Kay Ford thanked Cheri Dean for her five years of service on the SEDA board by presenting 
her with a gift as a token of appreciation.   
 
There were no questions or comments from the board on the SEDA appointment.  

 
MOTION was made by Kevin Jackson to approve the SEDA Board appointment.  The motion was 
seconded by Kal Patel. Trey Thompson abstained. The board approved the motion. 

 
D) Approval of The Bond Resolution for International Paper 

A draft copy of the bond resolution was sent via email notification to board members on 
Wednesday February 7, 2024.  Kay called on Trip Tollison and Jon Pannell for comments.  Jon 
explained that the resolution is between SEDA, International Paper and Chatham County. The 
SEDA board has previously approved a resolution in 2014 for the execution and delivery of a tax 
valuation agreement. In 2017 the SEDA board approved amendment one. This resolution includes 
a second amendment to the original tax valuation agreement. Chatham County has signed and 
approved this bond resolution with the second amendment. There were no questions.  



3 
 

 
MOTION was made by Kevin Jackson to approve the Bond Resolution for International Paper to not 
exceed the aggregate principal amount of $130,000,000. The motion was seconded by Greg Parker. 
Karen Bogans abstained. The board approved the motion. 

 
PRESIDENT’S REPORT 
At this time, Ms. Ford turned the meeting over to Trip Tollison for the president’s report. 
 
A) Savannah Music Festival- Artistic Director Ryan McMaken 

Trip Tollison introduced and thanked both Ryan McMaken, SMF Artistic Director and Mary 
Dubas, SMF Board Chair for joining us today. Mary apologized for Gene Dobbs Bradford’s 
absence but shared that she is excited for Ryan to speak on behalf of the Savannah Music Festival. 
The Savannah Music Festival is Georgia’s largest musical arts event and one of the most 
distinctive cross-genre music festivals in the world. The festival runs from March 28 – April 13, 
2024, a seventeen daylong event. The festival features classical music, jazz, American and 
International roots music. The festival generates $9 million in direct spending, $6 million in visitor 
spending and $700K tax revenue. Several photos of year-round events were shared. In 2024 
Savannah Music Festival will have several new debut performers, two commissions, the classical 
chamber music series, tributes to the legends, continued community engagement, and special 
events to include the Spring Fling event. Ryan and Mary both thanked Trip and the SEDA Board 
for the opportunity to speak to the group. There were no questions or comments from the board.  
 

B) Tourism Economic Impact and Employment – Michael Owens and Joe Marinelli  
Trip Tollison introduced and thanked both Michael Owens with Tourism Leadership Council and 
Joe Marinelli with Visit Savannah for being here today. Joe Marinelli began the presentation with 
market travel data. 2022 data was presented. The data revealed 9.7 million overnight visitors, $265 
average spend per person on overnight trips, 2.3 nightly average length of stay, $4.4 billion in 
visitor spending, 2.8 people party size average, $90 average spend per person on day trips and 75% 
of respondents satisfied with their Savannah experience. The four reasons people traveled to 
Savannah were marketable trips (54%), visiting friends and relatives (35%), business/ leisure (7%), 
and business (3%). Joe mentioned that he is most impressed at the time of year travelers are 
visiting Savannah. Before he began his career at Visit Savannah the tourism season was not yearly. 
Now all four seasons are seeing visitors to the region at a close to equal percentage. As U.S. 
outbound travel recovers, Savannah has more destinations to complete with. However, strong 
leisure travel is still in demand, Global Business travel association states 2024 is still on track to 
exceed pre-pandemic levels, international travel is expected to strengthen, and domestic travel 
remains high. Savannah market opportunities consist of hotel development, economic 
development, tourism development projects, convention center expansion, growing culinary scene, 
robust events, sustainability project, and diversification of offerings. Real domestic leisure travel 
spending is forecasted at $749B in 2024, with real domestic business travel spending forecasted at 
$239B in 2024. In 2023 Savannah had 70.7% hotel occupancy, the highest out of ten competitive 
cities. Joe Marinelli turned the presentation over to Michael Owens who spoke on workforce. The 
hospitality and tourism industry represents thousands of people here in Savannah. Tourism 
employs more than 27,000 people directly. That’s 1 in 7 employed people working in tourism in 
Savannah. No other industry in Savannah gives workers the same ability to advance within their 
careers. Many of the top executives working in our city started as valets and servers. Tourism is 
one of the very few industries where an individual can achieve financial and career success without 
formal education, it's a heart for service, commitment to excellence, and a passion for people that 
paves the way for success in the tourism community. As the second biggest economic and 
employment factor in our community, the tourism community has a big impact on the Savannah 
region. Michael turned the presentation back over to Joe. Joe presented a picture of an Old Town 



4 
 

Trolly popup roadshow bus and a mock set up of a marketing event. Visit Savannah and SEDA are 
planning a joint roadshow in 2024 to the following proposed cities: Buffalo, Cleveland, Columbus, 
Cincinnati, Louisville, Nashville, Memphis, Atlanta, Chicago, Indianapolis, Philadelphia, and D.C. 
Trip mentioned that it is important for SEDA to be apart of these roadshow events to help promote 
Savannah not only by coming to visit but to be a part of our community and workforce.  There 
were no questions or comments from the board.  
 

C) WTC Savannah Update – Leigh Ryan 
Trip Tollison introduced Leigh Ryan, VP WTC SAV. Leigh provided an update on World Trade 
Center Savannah. The WTCA 54th Global Business Forum is scheduled in Bengaluru, India from 
March 3-6. Leigh Ryan, Joyce Roche’, and Scott Center will be attending representing WTCSav.  
WTCSav has been selected as a finalist for the 3rd Biennial Champions Awards. The awards 
celebrate the excellence and impact of WTCA members in their regions and globally. WTCSav is 
competing for the following awards: Champion Award for Local Connectivity, Champion Award 
for Reciprocity & Network Support, and Champion Award for Regional Member of the Year 
(North America). Several educational programs and networking events coming up in the next few 
months, dates of those events were presented to the group. WTCSav offers a valuable trade service 
by organizing and hosting inbound delegations. This service showcases the economic benefits of 
doing business in southeast Georgia to delegates from around the world with our unique 
hospitality. Feb. 22-23  the Consulate General of the Kingdom of the Netherlands and    Cultural 
Attaché will be visiting Savannah. Mar. 13-19  Ireland visitors will be here, to include 
representative from Limerick, Wexford, Minister & Consul General. In May the  British Consul 
General will visit. In May a  TradeBridge Business Delegation will visit. The 2024 Prosperity 
Through Trade Lunch is scheduled for May 2 at the Savannah Convention Center. Chris Young, a 
Georgia native will be this year’s speaker. Chris is a world-class protocol trainer, speaker, and 
expert with an impressive career serving as Georgia's Chief of Protocol and Director of 
International Affairs, Deputy Chief of Staff at U.S. Department of Agriculture, Executive Director 
of CIFAL Atlanta (UN training organization), and Executive Director of The Protocol School of 
Washington. WTCSav International Business of the Year Award will be awarded at the Prosperity 
Through Trade luncheon. The award recognizes companies that excel in international trade and 
acknowledges the importance of trade to the region’s economy. Applications are due by Friday 
March 29. There were no questions or comments from the board.  
 

D) Film Savannah Update – Walker Dalton  
Trip Tollison introduced Walker Dalton, SRFC Executive Director. Walker provided an update on 
the Savannah Film Commission. Walker shared that himself and Katie Schuck, SRFC Assistant 
Executive Director attended The Sundance Film Festival in January. The Sundance Film Festival 
is the largest independent film festival in the United States, it takes place each January in Park 
City, Utah, and acts as a showcase for new work from American and international independent 
filmmakers. The festival consists of competitive sections for American and international dramatic 
and documentary films, both feature films and short films. Many films premiering at Sundance 
have gone on to be nominated and win Oscars such as Best Picture, Best Director, and Best Actor 
in a Leading Role. The festival is named after Redford’s character from Butch Cassidy and the 
Sundance Kid. What makes Sundance dynamic, a true business forecast of the independent film 
market and a curated space, where new tastes and trends percolate, isn’t just the movies or 
celebrity sightings. It’s the wild makeup of its crowd year after year. Being present, gives access to 
the decision makers and an opportunity to influence the narrative of Savannah’s filming potential. 
SRFC hosted a great event held on the first night of Sundance with Rise Impact Capitol and 
Georgia Entertainment. The event was at capacity (over 150 people and a wait list of 300) with 
producers and studio executives in attendance to kick off the festival. The swag bag had 
contributions from local vendors like Savannah Bee, Hale Tea Co, and more. Several photos from 



5 
 

Sundance were shown. In 2023 sixty-two professional productions were filmed in the Savannah 
region. Three independent productions were in Savannah during the WGA and SAG/ AFTRA 
strikes. 2023 had a total direct spend of over $98 million. It’s imperative to attend festivals like 
Sundance and Cannes for the creative and incentive conversations about the region’s resources, 
crew base, locations and SEDA’s newly approved Soundstage Incentive. There were no questions 
or comments from the board. 

 
NEXT MEETING 
Trip reminded the group that the next SEDA Board meeting will be held April 9, 2024 at 11a.m. at the 
SCAD River Dorm (640 Indian Street). The board picture will be taken at the April meeting, so 
attendance from the Board is strongly encouraged.  
 
FOR THE GOOD OF THE ORDER 
Trip Tollison recognized and thanked Mr. Paul Hinchey for his service as Board Chair for the past two 
years. Trip congratulated Kay Ford as incoming Chair and as the first female Chair in the history of 
SEDA. Champagne was presented to all in attendance to celebrate Kay’s first board meeting as Chair.     
 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned.  

 
 

 Respectfully submitted, 

 

 Katelyn Satterthwaite 
Assistant Secretary          



 
 

Management Analysis for Board of Directors 
January 2024 

 

The January 2024 Statement of Assets, Liabilities & Net Assets records $10m in Operating Cash. There was an increase of $409k from December 
due to the collection of $2.5m of annual revenues and paying $2.1m of expenses. Funds held for the West Chatham Water and Sewer in 
Bloomingdale increased by $370k. 

Accounts Receivable increased $5.8m during the month to a total of $9m ending balance. 

The market value of investments increased $112k and ended the month at $25.2m. 

Accounts Payable decreased $1.2m during the month to a total of $1.5m ending balance. 

Deferred Income increased to $9.7m due to 2024 Infrastructure Fees invoiced at the beginning of the year. 

 

The January 2024 Statement of Revenues & Expenses records $47k Net Income.  Net Ordinary Loss for the month was $97k mainly due to the 
2024 Trolly Tour Road Show sponsorship.  Non-Operating Revenue was $144k.    



Jan 31, 24 Dec 31, 23 $ Change Jan 31, 23 $ Change

ASSETS
Current Assets

Checking/Savings
OPERATING CHECKING & MM ACCTS 10,243,097.79 9,834,481.23 408,616.56 21,359,979.41 -11,116,881.62

SOUTH STATE VETERANS PKWY CKI... 574,745.82 574,497.91 247.91 5,078,960.11 -4,504,214.29
UNITED COMMUNITY BANK GEFA 3,884,906.35 3,514,502.11 370,404.24 3,168,656.16 716,250.19

Total Checking/Savings 14,702,749.96 13,923,481.25 779,268.71 29,607,595.68 -14,904,845.72

Accounts Receivable 9,094,877.39 3,272,437.14 5,822,440.25 3,665,582.92 5,429,294.47

Other Current Assets
A/R-MISCELLANEOUS 3,517,906.31 3,500,012.62 17,893.69 4,179,934.85 -662,028.54

DEPOSITS 1,535,855.83 1,535,855.83 0.00 1,535,855.83 0.00
INVESTMENTS @ MKT VALUE 25,265,336.01 25,153,556.60 111,779.41 23,272,114.60 1,993,221.41

PREPAID EXPENSES 62,888.90 56,766.00 6,122.90 56,464.00 6,424.90
Undeposited Funds 240,381.11 240,381.11 0.00 0.00 240,381.11

Total Other Current Assets 30,622,368.16 30,486,572.16 135,796.00 29,044,369.28 1,577,998.88

Total Current Assets 54,419,995.51 47,682,490.55 6,737,504.96 62,317,547.88 -7,897,552.37

Fixed Assets
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION -907,562.09 -880,716.98 -26,845.11 -643,546.81 -264,015.28
BUILDINGS 7,255,331.17 7,255,331.17 0.00 7,255,331.17 0.00

FURNITURE & EQUIPMENT 734,938.71 733,120.78 1,817.93 723,143.05 11,795.66
LAND AND LAND IMPROVEMENTS 1,200,000.00 1,200,000.00 0.00 1,200,000.00 0.00

VEHICLES 254,767.28 254,767.28 0.00 236,452.47 18,314.81

Total Fixed Assets 8,537,475.07 8,562,502.25 -25,027.18 8,771,379.88 -233,904.81

Other Assets
AMORTIZATION OF DEFERRED COST -1,206,176.73 -1,183,037.53 -23,139.20 -928,541.53 -277,635.20
DEFERRED COSTS 4,602,625.93 4,602,625.93 0.00 4,602,625.93 0.00

INVESTMENT IN SEDA I, LLC 838,136.22 829,957.13 8,179.09 741,073.73 97,062.49

LEASED ASSETS 734,627.73 734,627.73 0.00 700,155.79 34,471.94
LEASED ASSETS - AMORTIZATION -349,533.61 -337,193.41 -12,340.20 -218,348.00 -131,185.61
OTHER RECEIVABLE 5,210,289.70 5,210,289.70 0.00 0.00 5,210,289.70
REAL PROP.HELD-SALE/DEVELOPMENT 15,046,508.88 14,906,275.49 140,233.39 11,642,681.06 3,403,827.82

Total Other Assets 24,876,478.12 24,763,545.04 112,933.08 16,539,646.98 8,336,831.14

TOTAL ASSETS 87,833,948.70 81,008,537.84 6,825,410.86 87,628,574.74 205,373.96

5:07 PM SAVANNAH ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

04/02/24 Statement of Assets, Liabilities & Net Assets
Accrual Basis As of January 31, 2024

Prepared by Management

Page 1



Jan 31, 24 Dec 31, 23 $ Change Jan 31, 23 $ Change

LIABILITIES & EQUITY
Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 1,528,036.60 2,689,350.07 -1,161,313.47 1,202,083.65 325,952.95

Total Accounts Payable 1,528,036.60 2,689,350.07 -1,161,313.47 1,202,083.65 325,952.95

Credit Cards 56,653.49 34,568.37 22,085.12 55,349.43 1,304.06

Other Current Liabilities
A/P-MISCELLANEOUS 251,531.36 9,845.10 241,686.26 0.00 251,531.36

ACCRUED EXPENSES 1,930,048.13 1,882,748.13 47,300.00 2,391,598.13 -461,550.00
DEFERRED INCOME 9,722,017.21 2,048,366.00 7,673,651.21 8,475,261.11 1,246,756.10

PILOT/VPILT PAYABLE 77,000.00 77,000.00 0.00 0.00 77,000.00
RETAINAGE PAYABLE 185,018.18 185,018.18 0.00 40,000.00 145,018.18
TENANT DEPOSITS-SEDA OFC BLDG 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,500.00 -1,500.00

UNITED WAY PAYABLE 1,784.30 1,732.66 51.64 1,401.92 382.38

Total Other Current Liabilities 12,167,399.18 4,204,710.07 7,962,689.11 10,909,761.16 1,257,638.02

Total Current Liabilities 13,752,089.27 6,928,628.51 6,823,460.76 12,167,194.24 1,584,895.03

Long Term Liabilities
DEFERRED INTERCHANGE COSTS 421,898.72 425,277.86 -3,379.14 4,809,525.36 -4,387,626.64
GEFA LOAN PAYABLE 3,791,458.18 3,810,880.33 -19,422.15 3,830,282.76 -38,824.58
LEASE LIABILITY 370,051.30 392,633.39 -22,582.09 464,235.54 -94,184.24

Total Long Term Liabilities 4,583,408.20 4,628,791.58 -45,383.38 9,104,043.66 -4,520,635.46

Total Liabilities 18,335,497.47 11,557,420.09 6,778,077.38 21,271,237.90 -2,935,740.43

Equity
NET ASSETS-INVSTD IN CAP ASSETS 8,567,303.18 8,567,303.18 0.00 8,819,059.49 -251,756.31
NET ASSETS-UNRESTRICTED 60,883,814.57 56,641,064.09 4,242,750.48 56,389,307.78 4,494,506.79
Net Income 47,333.48 4,242,750.48 -4,195,417.00 1,148,969.57 -1,101,636.09

Total Equity 69,498,451.23 69,451,117.75 47,333.48 66,357,336.84 3,141,114.39

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 87,833,948.70 81,008,537.84 6,825,410.86 87,628,574.74 205,373.96

5:07 PM SAVANNAH ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

04/02/24 Statement of Assets, Liabilities & Net Assets
Accrual Basis As of January 31, 2024

Prepared by Management

Page 2



Jan 24 Budget $ Over Budget Jan 24 YTD Budget $ Over Budget Annual Budget

Ordinary Income/Expense
Income

BOND FEES 23,341.86 20,600.00 2,741.86 23,341.86 20,600.00 2,741.86 248,000.00
FOREIGN TRADE ZONE REVENUE 16,060.00 20,800.00 -4,740.00 16,060.00 20,800.00 -4,740.00 250,000.00
INFRASTRUCTURE FEES 769,396.23 785,400.00 -16,003.77 769,396.23 785,400.00 -16,003.77 9,424,000.00
MISCELLANEOUS INCOME 1,250.00 1,250.00 0.00 1,250.00 1,250.00 0.00 15,000.00
RENTAL INCOME - OTHER 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 3,000.00
TRADE SERVICES INCOME 13,576.00 15,900.00 -2,324.00 13,576.00 15,900.00 -2,324.00 260,000.00

Total Income 823,624.09 843,950.00 -20,325.91 823,624.09 843,950.00 -20,325.91 10,200,000.00

Gross Profit 823,624.09 843,950.00 -20,325.91 823,624.09 843,950.00 -20,325.91 10,200,000.00

Expense
ADMIN. OPERATING EXPENSES 375,676.60 432,392.00 -56,715.40 375,676.60 432,392.00 -56,715.40 5,187,000.00

ASSESSMENTS-CROSSROADS OWNE... 20,949.75 21,000.00 -50.25 20,949.75 21,000.00 -50.25 21,000.00
DEPRECIATION & AMORTIZATION 62,324.51 63,000.00 -675.49 62,324.51 63,000.00 -675.49 755,000.00

ENG,ENV,MITIGATION,SURVEY,LEGAL 126.00 29,100.00 -28,974.00 126.00 29,100.00 -28,974.00 350,000.00
INTEREST EXPENSE 898.50 898.50
PROPERTY MAINTENANCE 6,760.37 6,800.00 -39.63 6,760.37 6,800.00 -39.63 80,000.00
SALES,MKT,PR,RES,PROJ MGT EXP. 453,559.63 193,000.00 260,559.63 453,559.63 193,000.00 260,559.63 3,424,000.00

Total Expense 920,295.36 745,292.00 175,003.36 920,295.36 745,292.00 175,003.36 9,817,000.00

Net Ordinary Income -96,671.27 98,658.00 -195,329.27 -96,671.27 98,658.00 -195,329.27 383,000.00

Other Income/Expense
Other Income

NON-OPERATING REVENUE(EXPENSE) 144,004.75 31,900.00 112,104.75 144,004.75 31,900.00 112,104.75 731,000.00

Total Other Income 144,004.75 31,900.00 112,104.75 144,004.75 31,900.00 112,104.75 731,000.00

Net Other Income 144,004.75 31,900.00 112,104.75 144,004.75 31,900.00 112,104.75 731,000.00

Net Income 47,333.48 130,558.00 -83,224.52 47,333.48 130,558.00 -83,224.52 1,114,000.00

5:08 PM SAVANNAH ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

04/02/24 Statement of Revenues & Expenses - Actual vs. Budget
Accrual Basis January 2024

Prepared by Management

Page 1



 
 

Management Analysis for Board of Directors 
February 2024 

 

The February 2024 Statement of Assets, Liabilities & Net Assets records $13.2m Operating Cash.  $6.4m was collected in February with an 
additional $3.4m transferred from the GEFA account.  $6.9m was disbursed during the month, including the remaining $4.8m related to SEDA’s 
commitment toward the JDA Water & Sewer project with the offset as an increase in long term Other Receivable. 

Accounts Receivable decreased $2m during the month and shows an ending balance of $7m.   

The market value of investments increased $466k in February.  The balance as of February 29, 2024 is $25.7m. 

Accounts Payable decreased $1.2m during the month to a $300k ending balance.   

Deferred Income increased to $13.6m, representing the amount of billing that has been invoiced but not yet recognized. 

 

The February 2024 Statement of Revenues & Expenses records $214k Net Ordinary Income for the month, $507k Non-Operating Income and 
Total Net Income of $721k.  Year to Date (YTD) Net Ordinary Income is $117k while Non-Operating Income is $651k, producing a Net Income of 
$768k for the first two months of 2024. 

    

 



Feb 29, 24 Jan 31, 24 $ Change Feb 28, 23 $ Change

ASSETS
Current Assets

Checking/Savings
OPERATING CHECKING & MM ACCTS 13,225,426.80 10,243,097.79 2,982,329.01 21,038,932.50 -7,813,505.70

SOUTH STATE VETERANS PKWY CKI... 570,896.72 574,745.82 -3,849.10 4,881,192.95 -4,310,296.23
UNITED COMMUNITY BANK GEFA 879,614.66 3,884,906.35 -3,005,291.69 3,152,935.79 -2,273,321.13

Total Checking/Savings 14,675,938.18 14,702,749.96 -26,811.78 29,073,061.24 -14,397,123.06

Accounts Receivable 7,146,010.41 9,094,877.39 -1,948,866.98 3,132,043.64 4,013,966.77

Other Current Assets
A/R-MISCELLANEOUS 3,521,561.36 3,517,906.31 3,655.05 4,033,358.65 -511,797.29

DEPOSITS 1,535,855.83 1,535,855.83 0.00 1,535,855.83 0.00
INVESTMENTS @ MKT VALUE 25,731,521.13 25,265,336.01 466,185.12 22,868,898.41 2,862,622.72

PREPAID EXPENSES 57,030.90 62,888.90 -5,858.00 51,134.00 5,896.90
Undeposited Funds 0.00 240,381.11 -240,381.11 0.00 0.00

Total Other Current Assets 30,845,969.22 30,622,368.16 223,601.06 28,489,246.89 2,356,722.33

Total Current Assets 52,667,917.81 54,419,995.51 -1,752,077.70 60,694,351.77 -8,026,433.96

Fixed Assets
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION -934,400.09 -907,562.09 -26,838.00 -670,004.81 -264,395.28
BUILDINGS 7,255,331.17 7,255,331.17 0.00 7,255,331.17 0.00

FURNITURE & EQUIPMENT 734,938.71 734,938.71 0.00 724,960.98 9,977.73
LAND AND LAND IMPROVEMENTS 1,200,000.00 1,200,000.00 0.00 1,200,000.00 0.00

VEHICLES 254,767.28 254,767.28 0.00 236,452.47 18,314.81

Total Fixed Assets 8,510,637.07 8,537,475.07 -26,838.00 8,746,739.81 -236,102.74

Other Assets
AMORTIZATION OF DEFERRED COST -1,229,312.73 -1,206,176.73 -23,136.00 -951,677.53 -277,635.20
DEFERRED COSTS 4,602,625.93 4,602,625.93 0.00 4,602,625.93 0.00

INVESTMENT IN SEDA I, LLC 846,240.24 838,136.22 8,104.02 749,082.14 97,158.10

LEASED ASSETS 734,627.73 734,627.73 0.00 734,627.73 0.00
LEASED ASSETS - AMORTIZATION -361,873.81 -349,533.61 -12,340.20 -213,791.40 -148,082.41
OTHER RECEIVABLE 10,000,000.00 5,210,289.70 4,789,710.30 2,500,000.00 7,500,000.00
REAL PROP.HELD-SALE/DEVELOPMENT 15,216,554.10 15,046,508.88 170,045.22 11,649,653.56 3,566,900.54

Total Other Assets 29,808,861.46 24,876,478.12 4,932,383.34 19,070,520.43 10,738,341.03

TOTAL ASSETS 90,987,416.34 87,833,948.70 3,153,467.64 88,511,612.01 2,475,804.33

5:10 PM SAVANNAH ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

04/02/24 Statement of Assets, Liabilities & Net Assets
Accrual Basis As of February 29, 2024

Prepared by Management

Page 1



Feb 29, 24 Jan 31, 24 $ Change Feb 28, 23 $ Change

LIABILITIES & EQUITY
Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 298,604.84 1,528,036.60 -1,229,431.76 3,287,163.93 -2,988,559.09

Total Accounts Payable 298,604.84 1,528,036.60 -1,229,431.76 3,287,163.93 -2,988,559.09

Credit Cards 69,077.51 56,653.49 12,424.02 -147,362.56 216,440.07

Other Current Liabilities
A/P-MISCELLANEOUS 251,531.36 251,531.36 0.00 0.00 251,531.36

ACCRUED EXPENSES 1,727,648.13 1,930,048.13 -202,400.00 2,180,098.13 -452,450.00
DEFERRED INCOME 13,604,825.21 9,722,017.21 3,882,808.00 7,712,221.11 5,892,604.10

PILOT/VPILT PAYABLE 77,000.00 77,000.00 0.00 0.00 77,000.00
RETAINAGE PAYABLE 185,018.18 185,018.18 0.00 40,000.00 145,018.18
TENANT DEPOSITS-SEDA OFC BLDG 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,500.00 -1,500.00

UNITED WAY PAYABLE 979.92 1,784.30 -804.38 832.38 147.54

Total Other Current Liabilities 15,847,002.80 12,167,399.18 3,679,603.62 9,934,651.62 5,912,351.18

Total Current Liabilities 16,214,685.15 13,752,089.27 2,462,595.88 13,074,452.99 3,140,232.16

Long Term Liabilities
DEFERRED INTERCHANGE COSTS 418,598.87 421,898.72 -3,299.85 4,801,214.63 -4,382,615.76
GEFA LOAN PAYABLE 3,772,016.28 3,791,458.18 -19,441.90 3,830,282.76 -58,266.48
LEASE LIABILITY 362,800.46 370,051.30 -7,250.84 507,186.28 -144,385.82

Total Long Term Liabilities 4,553,415.61 4,583,408.20 -29,992.59 9,138,683.67 -4,585,268.06

Total Liabilities 20,768,100.76 18,335,497.47 2,432,603.29 22,213,136.66 -1,445,035.90

Equity
NET ASSETS-INVSTD IN CAP ASSETS 8,567,303.18 8,567,303.18 0.00 8,819,059.49 -251,756.31
NET ASSETS-UNRESTRICTED 60,883,814.57 60,883,814.57 0.00 56,389,307.78 4,494,506.79
Net Income 768,197.83 47,333.48 720,864.35 1,090,108.08 -321,910.25

Total Equity 70,219,315.58 69,498,451.23 720,864.35 66,298,475.35 3,920,840.23

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 90,987,416.34 87,833,948.70 3,153,467.64 88,511,612.01 2,475,804.33

5:10 PM SAVANNAH ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

04/02/24 Statement of Assets, Liabilities & Net Assets
Accrual Basis As of February 29, 2024

Prepared by Management

Page 2



Feb 24 Budget $ Over Budget Jan - Feb 24 YTD Budget $ Over Budget Annual Budget

Ordinary Income/Expense
Income

BOND FEES 23,365.00 20,700.00 2,665.00 46,706.86 41,300.00 5,406.86 248,000.00
FOREIGN TRADE ZONE REVENUE 16,040.00 20,900.00 -4,860.00 32,100.00 41,700.00 -9,600.00 250,000.00
INFRASTRUCTURE FEES 769,420.00 785,300.00 -15,880.00 1,538,816.23 1,570,700.00 -31,883.77 9,424,000.00
MISCELLANEOUS INCOME 1,250.00 1,250.00 0.00 2,500.00 2,500.00 0.00 15,000.00
RENTAL INCOME - OTHER 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 3,000.00
TRADE SERVICES INCOME 13,834.00 15,800.00 -1,966.00 27,410.00 31,700.00 -4,290.00 260,000.00

Total Income 823,909.00 843,950.00 -20,041.00 1,647,533.09 1,687,900.00 -40,366.91 10,200,000.00

Gross Profit 823,909.00 843,950.00 -20,041.00 1,647,533.09 1,687,900.00 -40,366.91 10,200,000.00

Expense
ADMIN. OPERATING EXPENSES 415,025.68 432,242.00 -17,216.32 790,702.28 864,634.00 -73,931.72 5,187,000.00

ASSESSMENTS-CROSSROADS OWNE... 0.00 0.00 0.00 20,949.75 21,000.00 -50.25 21,000.00
DEPRECIATION & AMORTIZATION 62,314.20 62,900.00 -585.80 124,638.71 125,900.00 -1,261.29 755,000.00

ENG,ENV,MITIGATION,SURVEY,LEGAL 19,519.05 29,200.00 -9,680.95 19,645.05 58,300.00 -38,654.95 350,000.00
INTEREST EXPENSE 873.54 1,772.04
PROPERTY MAINTENANCE 6,525.64 6,600.00 -74.36 13,286.01 13,400.00 -113.99 80,000.00
SALES,MKT,PR,RES,PROJ MGT EXP. 105,412.40 192,200.00 -86,787.60 558,972.03 385,200.00 173,772.03 3,424,000.00

Total Expense 609,670.51 723,142.00 -113,471.49 1,529,965.87 1,468,434.00 61,531.87 9,817,000.00

Net Ordinary Income 214,238.49 120,808.00 93,430.49 117,567.22 219,466.00 -101,898.78 383,000.00

Other Income/Expense
Other Income

NON-OPERATING REVENUE(EXPENSE) 506,625.86 75,500.00 431,125.86 650,630.61 107,400.00 543,230.61 731,000.00

Total Other Income 506,625.86 75,500.00 431,125.86 650,630.61 107,400.00 543,230.61 731,000.00

Net Other Income 506,625.86 75,500.00 431,125.86 650,630.61 107,400.00 543,230.61 731,000.00

Net Income 720,864.35 196,308.00 524,556.35 768,197.83 326,866.00 441,331.83 1,114,000.00

5:58 PM SAVANNAH ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

04/02/24 Statement of Revenues & Expenses - Actual vs. Budget
Accrual Basis February 2024

Prepared by Management

Page 1



SAVANNAH ECONOMIC  
DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND 2022 

Draf
t 4

-2-
20

24



 

 

SAVANNAH ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND 2022 
 
 Pages 
 
 
Independent Auditor’s Report ............................................................................................................ 1-3 
 
Consolidated Statements of Net Position – Proprietary Fund .............................................................. 4 
 
Consolidated Statements of Revenues, Expenses,  
 and Changes in Fund Net Position – Proprietary Fund ............................................................... 5-6 
 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows – Proprietary Fund ............................................................ 7-8 
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements .................................................................................... 9-20 
 
Schedule of Expenditures of OneGeorgia Awards ............................................................................. 22 
 
Source and Application of Funds Schedule - OneGeorgia Awards ................................................... 23 
 
Project Cost Schedule - OneGeorgia Awards ..................................................................................... 24 
 
Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial  
Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an  
Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with  
Government Auditing Standards ................................................................................................... 25-26 
 
 
 
 
 
 Draf

t 4
-2-

20
24



 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
 
To the Board of Directors of 
Savannah Economic Development Authority 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinions 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the business-type activities of the 
Savannah Economic Development Authority (SEDA) and affiliates, as of and for the years ended December 31, 
2023 and 2022, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements, which collectively comprise 
SEDA’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all 
material respects, the respective financial position of the business-type activities of SEDA, as of December 
31, 2023 and 2022, and the respective changes in financial position, and cash flows thereof for the years then 
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
(GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by 
the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in 
the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to 
be independent of SEDA and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical 
requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about SEDA's ability to continue as 
a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known 
information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that 
includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and 
therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material  

Draf
t 4

-2-
20

24



 

 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are 
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would 
influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. 
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of SEDA's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that 
raise substantial doubt about SEDA's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of 
time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters 
that we identified during the audit. 

Required Supplementary Information 

Management has omitted management’s discussion and analysis and budgetary comparison information that 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require to be presented to 
supplement the basic financial statements. Such missing information, although not a part of the basic financial 
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) who considers it to be an 
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, 
economic, or historical context. Our opinions on the basic financial statements are not affected by this missing 
information. 

Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the consolidated financial statements that 
collectively compromise SEDA’s basic financial statements. The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of 
OneGeorgia Awards, the Source and Application of Funds Schedule - OneGeorgia Awards, and the Project 
Cost Schedule - OneGeorgia Awards are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required 
part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived 
from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial 
statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic 
financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the 
basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, this supplementary information is fairly 
stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.  

 

 

Draf
t 4

-2-
20

24



 

 

 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated April 9, 2024, on our 
consideration of SEDA’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is 
solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion the effectiveness of SEDA’s internal control over financial 
reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government 
Auditing Standards in considering SEDA’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

 
 
 
Holland, Bromley, Barnhill & Brett, LLP 
Savannah, Georgia 
April 9, 2024 
 

Draf
t 4

-2-
20

24



 

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.) 
4 

2023 2022
ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 13,006,979$     19,416,196$     
Restricted cash 916,501           8,646,583         
Investments 25,153,557       22,339,095       
Accounts receivable 6,772,449         6,572,762         
Prepaid expenses and deposits 1,833,003         1,590,154         

Total current assets 47,682,489       58,564,790       

Noncurrent assets
Accounts receivable, noncurrent 5,210,290         -                     
SEDA I, LLC investment 829,957           733,159           
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization 8,959,937         9,289,532         
Real property held for sale or development 14,906,275       11,636,021       

Total noncurrent assets 29,906,459       21,658,712       

Total assets 77,588,948       80,223,502       

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred outflows of resources, net of amortization 3,419,588         3,697,224         

3,419,588         3,697,224         

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Accounts payable 2,920,515         1,212,865         
Accrued expenses 1,882,748         2,354,098         
Unearned property deposits -                     1,500               
Voluntary payments in lieu of taxes 77,000             77,000             
Current portion of lease obligations 149,010           116,567           
Current portion of note payable 234,374           -                     

Total current liabilities 5,263,647         3,762,030         
Long-term lease obligations 243,623 353,905
Long-term note payable 3,576,506         3,830,283         

Total liabilities 9,083,776         7,946,218         

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred inflows of resources 2,473,644         10,766,141       

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets 8,567,304         8,819,060         
Unrestricted 60,883,812       56,389,307       

Total net position 69,451,116$     65,208,367$     

December 31,

SAVANNAH ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUND

 

Draf
t 4

-2-
20

24



 

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.) 
5 

2023 2022
REVENUES AND OTHER SUPPORT

Infrastructure and recapitalization fees 8,453,274$       7,728,359$       
World Trade Center income 500,458           470,554           
Administrative fees 285,057           267,542           
Rental income 18,839             24,606             
Miscellaneous income 15,879             22,770             

Total operating revenues 9,273,507         8,513,831         

OPERATING EXPENSES
Personnel and wages 2,160,559         2,281,807         
Incentives 1,202,661         589,842           
Professional fees 811,336           629,239           
Depreciation and amortization 748,367           538,987           
Sponsorships 736,327           461,307           
Travel and entertainment 434,002           490,383           
Promotional and collateral materials 433,190           356,308           
Special events and business development 400,379           274,535           
Insurance 316,127           249,490           
Office 164,117           140,599           
Dues and subscriptions 158,614           103,392           
Payroll taxes 138,864           138,187           
Property maintenance 128,965           157,356           
Retirement plan contributions 102,996           99,256             
Advertising 78,742             84,581             
Board meetings and reports 71,954             31,949             
Research 63,298             54,658             
Website development and maintenance 56,437             55,012             
Organization 44,700             40,397             
Utilities 39,723             38,174             
Telephone 27,110             41,087             
Assessments - Crossroads Owners Association 20,144             39,482             
Bad debt 9,500               -                     

Total operating expenses 8,348,112         6,896,028         

Operating income 925,395           1,617,803         

SAVANNAH ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUND

For the years ended
December 31,

 

Draf
t 4

-2-
20

24



 

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.) 
6 

2023 2022
NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)

Investment fees (150,935)$        (163,708)$        
Interest income 713,104           319,740           
Dividend income 314,198           180,986           
Unrealized gains (losses) 1,802,913         (4,040,384)       
Realized gains (losses) 532,505           (251,823)          
Gain on disposal of capital assets 21,352             -                     
Interest expense (12,531)            (11,502)            
Income from SEDA I, LLC 96,748             331,909           

Total non-operating revenues (expenses) 3,317,354         (3,634,782)       

Net income (loss) 4,242,749         (2,016,979)       

Net position - beginning 65,208,367       67,225,346       

Net position - ending 69,451,116$     65,208,367$     

For the years ended
December 31,

SAVANNAH ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

PROPRIETARY FUND - (continued)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION

 
 

Draf
t 4

-2-
20

24



 

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.) 
7 

2023 2022
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash expended from providing services (4,430,467)$      (12,172,290)$    
Payments to suppliers and employees (6,606,294)       (11,054,213)      

Net cash used for operating activities (11,036,761)      (23,226,503)      

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition or construction of capital assets (147,486)          (164,299)          
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 27,701             -                     
(Payments) borrowings on note payable (19,403)            3,830,283         
Borrowings on lease obligations 51,369             -                     
Payments on lease obligations (141,739)          (96,268)            

(229,558)          3,569,716         

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

(3,270,254)       (405,850)          
Interest proceeds from cash and cash equivalents 397,274           39,360             

Net cash used for investing activities (2,872,980)       (366,490)          

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (14,139,299)      (20,023,277)      

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - BEGINNING OF YEAR 28,062,779       48,086,056       

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR 13,923,480$     28,062,779$     

Cash and cash equivalents 13,006,979$     19,416,196$     
Restricted cash 916,501           8,646,583         

13,923,480$     28,062,779$     

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS from the Consolidated
    Statements of Financial Position

Acquisition or development of real property held for 
    sale or development

SAVANNAH ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

PROPRIETARY FUND

For the years ended
December 31,

Net cash (used for) provided by capital and related financing 
activities

 
 

Draf
t 4

-2-
20

24



 

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.) 
8 

2023 2022
RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO 

NET CASH USED FOR OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating income 925,395$         1,617,803$       
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to cash 
  used for operating activities

Depreciation and amortization expense 748,367           538,987           
Increase in deferred outflows of resources -                     (2,850,234)       
Decrease in deferred inflows of resources (8,292,497)       (15,148,708)      

Change in assets and liabilities
Increase in accounts receivable (5,409,977)       (5,537,413)       
Increase in prepaid expenses and deposits (242,849)          (1,538,687)       
Decrease in other receivable -                     445,460           
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 1,707,650         (668,761)          
Decrease in accrued expenses (471,350)          (161,950)          
Decrease in unearned property deposits (1,500)             -                     
Increase in voluntary payments in lieu of taxes -                     77,000             

Net cash used for operating activities (11,036,761)$    (23,226,503)$    

SCHEDULE OF NON-CASH INVESTING, CAPITAL,
AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Change in fair value of investments 2,814,462$       (3,994,600)$      
Change in investment in SEDA I, LLC 96,798             331,959           

SAVANNAH ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

PROPRIETARY FUND - (continued)

For the years ended
December 31,

 
 
 Draf

t 4
-2-

20
24



 

9 

SAVANNAH ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND 2022 
 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Nature of the Organization 

The Savannah Economic Development Authority is a body corporate and politic and an instrumentality of 
the State of Georgia established in 1925, as the Savannah Port Authority, and by amendment to the 
Constitution of the State of Georgia in 1951. The organization was renamed the Savannah Economic 
Development Authority (SEDA) in 1989. SEDA’s board consists of nineteen members with six members 
appointed by each the City of Savannah, Chatham County, and SEDA. Each of the above organizations 
has the opportunity to appoint the nineteenth member on a rotating basis. 

SEDA’s primary goals are developing industrial growth and expansion and making long range plans for 
the coordination of commerce, industry and traffic within Savannah and Chatham County, Georgia. 
SEDA’s primary functions in achieving these goals are the issuance of industrial revenue obligations, real 
estate acquisition, development and management, and soliciting businesses for potential relocation to the 
Savannah area. 
 
Reporting Entity 

SEDA is governed by members of the board of directors. The reporting entity comprises the primary 
government, component units, and other organizations that are included to ensure that the financial 
statements are not misleading.  

Criteria for determining if other entities are potential component units which should be reported within 
SEDA’s financial statements are identified and described in GASB’s Codification of Governmental 
Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards, Sections 2100 and 2600. The application of these criteria 
provides for identification of any entities for which SEDA is financially accountable and other 
organizations for which the nature and significance of their relationship with SEDA are such that exclusion 
would cause SEDA’s financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. Based on these criteria, no 
component units are included within the reporting entity of SEDA.  

SEDA’s consolidated financial statements include the investment in SEDA I, LLC, which is a single-
member limited liability company wholly owned by SEDA. See Note 13 for further discussion. 

In 2011, World Trade Center Savannah, LLC (WTCSav) was created as a single member limited liability 
company wholly owned by SEDA. WTCSav was created to further the SEDA mission to create, grow and 
attract jobs and investment in the Savannah region. It does so by helping regional businesses expand 
internationally and identifying more foreign direct investment opportunities for the Savannah region. 
WTCSav is treated as a consolidating entity included in SEDA’s consolidated financial statements as of 
December 31, 2023 and 2022. See Note 13 for further discussion.  

In August 2016, the Savannah Regional Film Commission became a part of SEDA through memorandums 
of understanding with the City of Savannah and Chatham County. Financial information related to the 
Savannah Regional Film Commission is included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements 
with other SEDA operations. 
 
Fund Type 

The operations of SEDA are accounted for in the Proprietary Fund type of the Enterprise Fund. Enterprise 
funds are used to account for the operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar to private 
business or where SEDA has decided that the determination of revenues earned, costs incurred, and/or 
income is necessary for management accountability.

Draf
t 4

-2-
20

24



 

10 

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Basis of Presentation – Fund Accounting 

As a body corporate and politic, SEDA elected in 1998 to change its method of financial reporting from 
that of a not-for-profit organization to that of a government unit. Accordingly, the financial statements are 
presented in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to 
governmental units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard 
setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The more 
significant of SEDA’s accounting policies are described below. 
 
Measurement Focus/Basis of Accounting 

The economic measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting are used by SEDA. Proprietary 
funds use the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis, revenues are recognized when earned, 
and expenses are recognized when incurred or the economic asset is used. Under this basis of accounting, 
all assets and liabilities associated with the operations of SEDA are included on the consolidated 
statements of net position. The accounting objectives of this measurement focus are the determination of 
operating income, changes in net position, financial position, and cash flow. Proprietary fund equity is 
classified as net position. Proprietary Fund operating statements present increases (i.e., revenues) and 
decreases (i.e., expenses) in fund net position.  
 
Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments 

Cash equivalents include amounts in petty cash, bank demand deposits, and money funds. SEDA considers 
all highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less, when purchased, to be cash 
equivalents. Restricted cash consists of cash held for other entities as part of SEDA’s administration of 
certain economic development projects.  

Investments are stated at fair value based on quoted market prices. 
 
Accounts Receivable 

SEDA’s accounts receivable are stated at realizable values net of allowances for uncollectible accounts, if 
any. Management considers all receivables at December 31, 2023 and 2022, to be fully collectible. 
Accordingly, no allowance for doubtful accounts is considered necessary for these receivables. 
 
Prepaid Items 

Payments made to vendors for services that benefit periods beyond the current fiscal year are recorded as 
prepaid items using the consumption method by recording an asset for the prepaid amount and reflecting 
expense in the year in which the services are consumed.  
 
Real Property Held for Sale or Development 

Real property held for sale or development consists of land and improvements located at Crossroads 
Business Park, Savannah Chatham Manufacturing Center, and other smaller tracts. If purchased, these 
assets are recorded at the lower of cost or fair market value. If donated, these assets are recorded at 
appraised value. See Note 8 for further discussion.  
 
Capital Assets 

Land, buildings, and equipment are recorded at cost if purchased or appraised value if donated. 
Depreciation is recorded by using the straight-line method and is based on assets’ estimated useful lives 
ranging from 5 - 40 years. 

Draf
t 4

-2-
20

24



 

11 

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Fund Equity 

Fund equity for all proprietary funds is classified as “net position.” Net position represents the difference 
between assets and liabilities and deferred outflows and inflows of resources. Net investment in capital 
assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization, reduced by the 
outstanding balances of any borrowings or lease obligations used for the acquisition, construction, or 
improvements of those assets. Net positions are reported as restricted when there are limitations imposed 
on their use by outside third parties, creditors, grantors, or regulation of other governments. All other net 
positions are reported as unrestricted. 
 
Accounting Pronouncements 

SEDA is applying all applicable GASB pronouncements as well as following all Financial Accounting 
Standards Board Statements and Interpretations, Accounting Principles Board Opinions, and Accounting 
Research Bulletins of the Committee on Accounting Procedures issued on or before November 30, 1989, 
unless those pronouncements conflict with or contradict GASB pronouncements.  
 
Tax Abatements 

SEDA adheres to GASB 77, Tax Abatement Disclosures, which requires state and local governments to 
disclose certain information about tax abatements and the tax revenues affected by these abatements. 
SEDA is authorized to enter into tax abatement agreements as a state constitutional authority and by state 
law. The tax abatement agreements are designed to attract new businesses to Chatham County, Georgia 
and to incentivize existing businesses to retain or expand operations in the County. Tax on real property 
and attached fixtures can be partially to fully abated. The length of the agreements as well as the abatement 
percentages are based on SEDA’s approved guidelines related to the projects’ commitment of the dollar 
amount of investment and the number of qualifying jobs to be created and/or maintained. SEDA does not 
collect property taxes and therefore entering into these contracts does not negatively impact SEDA’s 
revenues. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, SEDA was a party to fifty-four (54) and fifty (50) tax 
abatement agreements, respectively.  
 
Infrastructure and Recapitalization Fees 

SEDA has invested its own and borrowed funds to foster investment and job creation in Chatham County, 
Georgia. As a state constitutional authority, SEDA is empowered to offer certain incentives to potential 
investors in Chatham County, Georgia by taking title to the land and improvements of a project and 
leasing the property back to the investors. In return for that action, SEDA negotiates annual fees that will 
repay SEDA for its investment and costs of infrastructure typically paid by government. 
 
Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could 
differ from those estimates. 
 
Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources 

Deferred outflows of resources are reported on a separate line in the consolidated statements of net 
position to record costs related to future income until such future payments are received. Expenses are 
amortized over the established payment period. See Note 9 for further discussion.  

Deferred inflows of resources are reported on a separate line in the consolidated statements of net position 
to record funds received related to future expenditures until such future costs are incurred. See Note 3 for 
further discussion. 

Draf
t 4

-2-
20

24



 

12 

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Advertising 

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising costs for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 
2022 were $78,742 and $84,581, respectively. 
 
Reclassifications 

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation. 
 
Subsequent Events 

SEDA has evaluated subsequent events through April 9, 2024, the date the financial statements were 
available to be issued. 
 
NOTE 2 - CASH ON DEPOSIT WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND CONCENTRATIONS OF 
CREDIT RISK 
 
SEDA maintains its cash balances with commercial banks in deposit accounts. The Federal Deposit 
Insurance Corporation (FDIC) insures these deposits up to $250,000 per financial institution. In addition, 
at December 31, 2023, all of SEDA’s cash accounts are collateralized in accordance with Official Code of 
Georgia Annotated, Title 45, Chapter 8, Section 12 (O.C.G.A. § 45-8-12), through the State of Georgia 
Secure Deposit Program. Uninsured cash at December 31, 2023 and 2022 totaled approximately $0 and 
$928,000, respectively. SEDA has a custodial credit risk policy which states that cash account balances 
will be reviewed monthly to ensure proper coverage through FDIC insurance. 
 
NOTE 3 - INCOME TAX-EXEMPT INDUSTRIAL REVENUE OBLIGATIONS 
 
A function of SEDA is the issuance of certain income tax-exempt industrial revenue bonds (IRBs) known 
as conduit debt securities. The full faith and credit of the issuer, SEDA, is not involved. A typical conduit 
debt security IRB states on its face that the bonds are limited obligations of the issuer, and they are payable 
solely out of the proceeds of the related project. Hence, purchasers of such bonds have no recourse against 
SEDA or its employees in the event of default. The bonds are the primary obligation of the borrower on 
whose behalf the bonds are issued. Consequently, they are not reflected on the financial statements of 
SEDA. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were 19 and 18 IRBs outstanding with aggregate 
principal balances of $733,728,705 and $762,182,750, respectively. 

In January 2021, SEDA issued revenue bonds totaling $28,000,000 to fund the Veterans Parkway 
Interchange Project. In May 2022 and October 2023, SEDA issued additional revenue bonds totaling 
$5,750,000 and $2,565,000, respectively, to fund additional costs necessary to complete the Veterans 
Parkway Interchange Project. The City of Savannah is the obligor on the bonds and is responsible for bond 
payments. SEDA received the bond proceeds upon issuance and agreed to administer and manage the 
project as an agent of the City.  

At December 31, 2022, there were remaining, unspent bond funds totaling $5,462,430 included in 
restricted cash on the accompanying consolidated statement of net position. Also included on the 
accompanying consolidated statement of net position at December 31, 2022 are accounts receivable of 
$820 related to amounts spent from SEDA operating funds on the project, accounts payable of $286,536 
related to unpaid vendor invoices for the project, and deferred inflows of resources of $5,175,075 
representing unspent bond funds less vendor payables related to the project.  

At December 31, 2023, there were remaining, unspent bond funds totaling $574,498 included in restricted 
cash on the accompanying consolidated statement of net position.  

Draf
t 4

-2-
20

24



 

13 

NOTE 3 - INCOME TAX-EXEMPT INDUSTRIAL REVENUE OBLIGATIONS (continued) 
 
Also included on the accompanying consolidated statement of net position at December 31, 2023 are 
accounts receivable of $4,202 related to amounts spent from SEDA operating funds on the project, 
accounts payable of $145,018 related to unpaid vendor invoices for the project, and deferred inflows of 
resources of $425,278 representing unspent bond funds less vendor payables related to the project. 
 
NOTE 4 - INVESTMENTS 
 
As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, SEDA had investments totaling $25,153,557 and $22,339,095, 
respectively. Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of failure of the 
counterparty, SEDA will not be able to recover the value of its investments. Concentration of credit risk is 
the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of a government’s investment in a single issuer. SEDA 
maintains an investment policy with portfolio guidelines to mitigate these risks. SEDA’s investments in 
debt securities have an average credit quality rating of A1 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022. 

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an 
investment. SEDA has a formal investment policy that limits investment maturities as a means of 
managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from interest rates. Investments are presented in the 
financial statements at published fair market values.  

Investments are composed of the following: 

Market Unrealized
December 31, 2023 Cost Value Gains/(Losses)

Common stocks  $    6,928,450  $    9,885,332  $       2,956,882 
Money funds          412,965          412,965                       - 
Bonds      11,714,320      11,336,067            (378,253)
Fixed income funds        3,495,937        3,519,193               23,256 

 $  22,551,672  $  25,153,557  $       2,601,885 

Market Unrealized
December 31, 2022 Cost Value Gains/(Losses)

Common stocks  $    6,386,332  $    8,100,347  $       1,714,015 
Money funds          293,241          293,241                       - 
Bonds      11,362,071      10,620,539            (741,532)
Fixed income funds        3,547,036        3,324,968            (222,068)

 $  21,588,680  $  22,339,095  $         750,415  

At December 31, 2023, SEDA’s investments had the following maturities: 

No
Maturity

Money funds 412,965$        412,965$    
Bonds 11,336,067      1,100,744$ 8,958,942$ 1,276,381$ 
Fixed income funds 3,519,193       3,519,193$   
Common stocks 9,885,332       9,885,332     -               -               -               -               

Total investments 25,153,557$    13,404,525$ 412,965$    1,100,744$ 8,958,942$ 1,276,381$ 

Maturity Period
Total 

Fair Value
Less than 
3 Months 4-12 Months 1-5 Years 6-10 Years

 

Draf
t 4

-2-
20

24



 

14 

NOTE 5 - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
 
GAAP establishes a framework for measuring fair value and provides a hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs 
to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted 
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1 measurements) and the lowest 
priority to unobservable inputs (level 3 measurements).  

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described as follows: 

 Level 1 - Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or 
liabilities in active markets that SEDA has the ability to access. 

 Level 2 - Inputs to the valuation methodology include: 

 Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; 
 Quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets; 
 Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the assets or liabilities; 
 Inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by 

correlation or other means. 

If the asset or liability has a specified (contractual) term, the level 2 input must be 
observable for substantially the full term of the asset or liability. 

Level 3 - Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value 
measurement. 

The asset’s or liability’s fair value measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest 
level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Valuation techniques used should 
maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. 

The following table sets forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the investment assets at fair value as 
of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively. As required by GAAP, assets are classified in 
their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Common stocks 9,885,332$     9,885,332$     
Money funds 412,965         412,965         
Bonds 11,336,067$   11,336,067     

Fixed income funds -                   3,519,193      -$                 3,519,193      

Total 10,298,297$   14,855,260$   -$                 25,153,557$   

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Common stocks 8,100,347$     8,100,347$     
Money funds 293,241         293,241         
Bonds 10,620,539$   10,620,539     

Fixed income funds -                   3,324,968      -$                 3,324,968      

Total 8,393,588$     13,945,507$   -$                 22,339,095$   

Assets at Fair Value as of December 31, 2023

Assets at Fair Value as of December 31, 2022

 

Draf
t 4

-2-
20

24



 

15 

NOTE 6 - CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
Capital assets are stated at cost and consist of the following: 

Useful 
Lives

December 31, 
2022 Additions Disposals

December 31, 
2023

Land 1,200,000$    1,200,000$    
Building 40 years 7,255,331      7,255,331      
Vehicles 5 years 236,454         81,799$       (63,484)$      254,769         
Furniture and equipment 5-10 years 721,323         14,318         (2,522)         733,119         

9,413,108      96,117         (66,006)       9,443,219      

Less accumulated depreciation 617,083         323,291       (59,657)       880,717         

Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 8,796,025$    (227,174)$    (6,349)$       8,562,502$    

Lease assets - facilities 5-6 years 326,398$       326,398$       
Lease assets - equipment 2-6 years 356,861         356,861         
Lease assets - vehicles 2-4 years 16,897          51,369$       (16,897)$      51,369          

700,156         51,369         (16,897)       734,628         

Less accumulated amortization 206,649         147,441       (16,897)       337,193         

Total capital assets, being amortized, net 493,507$       (96,072)$      -$               397,435$       

Total capital assets 9,289,532$    (323,246)$    (6,349)$       8,959,937$    

Useful 
Lives

December 31, 
2021 Additions Disposals

December 31, 
2022

Land 1,200,000$    1,200,000$    
Building 40 years 7,268,212      (12,881)$      7,255,331      
Vehicles 5 years 86,093          150,361$     236,454         
Furniture and equipment 5-10 years 694,504         26,819         -                 721,323         

9,248,809      177,180       (12,881)       9,413,108      

Less accumulated depreciation 315,735         301,348       -                 617,083         

Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 8,933,074$    (124,168)$    (12,881)$      8,796,025$    

Lease assets - facilities 5-6 years 326,398$       326,398$       
Lease assets - equipment 2-6 years 342,833         24,262$       (10,234)$      356,861         
Lease assets - vehicles 2-4 years 37,688          -                 (20,791)       16,897          

706,919         24,262         (31,025)       700,156         

Less accumulated amortization 87,655          150,019       (31,025)       206,649         

Total capital assets, being amortized, net 619,264$       (125,757)$    -$               493,507$       

Total capital assets 9,552,338$    (249,925)$    (12,881)$      9,289,532$    

Draf
t 4

-2-
20

24



 

16 

NOTE 7 - LEASES 
 
SEDA leases facilities, office equipment and vehicles under eight non-cancellable lease agreements. SEDA 
accounts for noncancellable leases under GASB 87, Leases, and has recorded lease liabilities and intangible 
right-to-use lease assets in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.  

Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of lease payments expected to be made during the lease 
terms, discounted using stated interest rates included in the lease agreements, if applicable, or an estimated 
implicit borrowing rate, and the rates used range from 2.26% to 6.45%. Lease liabilities are reduced by the 
principal portion of lease payments made and interest expense is recorded as an outflow of resources. Lease 
assets are measured at the initial amount of the lease liabilities and are amortized on a straight-line basis over 
the lease terms. The lease terms include the non-cancellable period of the lease as well as any period in which 
the lessee has the option to extend the lease, if it is reasonably certain the option will be exercised. Lease assets 
are reported with other capital assets and lease liabilities are reported with current and long-term liabilities on 
the consolidated statements of net position. 

SEDA monitors changes in circumstances that would require a remeasurement of its leases and will remeasure 
the lease assets and liabilities if certain changes occur that are expected to significantly affect the amount of 
the lease liabilities.  

Interest expense related to leases totaled $12,531 and $11,502 for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 
2022, respectively.  
 
Changes in leases payable are as follows: 

December 31, 
2022 Increases Decreases

December 31, 
2023

Leases of facilities 237,906$       -$                 (41,934)$       195,972$       
Leases of equipment 231,846        -                  (73,177)         158,669        
Leases of vehicles 720              51,369          (14,097)         37,992          

470,472$       51,369$        (129,208)$     392,633$       

December 31, 
2021 Increases Decreases

December 31, 
2022

Leases of facilities 232,648$       5,258$          -$                 237,906$       
Leases of equipment 279,608        24,262          (72,024)         231,846        
Leases of vehicles 18,720          -                  (18,000)         720              

530,976$       29,520$        (90,024)$       470,472$        

Annual payment requirements for the leases through maturity are as follows: 

For the year ending
December 31, Principal Interest Total

2024 149,010$       9,128$          158,138$       
2025 153,390        4,747            158,137        
2026 73,843          1,190            75,033          
2027 16,390          38                16,428          

Thereafter -                  -                  -                  

392,633$       15,103$        407,736$       

 

Draf
t 4

-2-
20

24



 

17 

 NOTE 8 - REAL PROPERTY HELD FOR SALE OR DEVELOPMENT 
 
SEDA has real property available for sale or development located at Crossroads Business Park and the 
Savannah Chatham Manufacturing Center totaling $14,906,275 and $11,636,021 as of December 31, 2023 
and 2022, respectively.  

In November 2016, SEDA entered into an agreement with Chatham County under which SEDA agreed to 
aid in the purchase and development of certain tracts of land in Chatham County (Savannah Chatham 
Manufacturing Center), and Chatham County agreed to reimburse SEDA for the costs incurred with 
Special Purpose Local Option Sales Tax (SPLOST) funds. SEDA paid $2,101,508, and Chatham County 
paid $3,000,000 for the initial purchase of the property which is titled to SEDA.  

Since the initial purchase in 2016, SEDA has incurred additional costs of $32,390,894 related to the 
development of the property and received $25,768,650 in reimbursement funds from Chatham County, the 
City of Savannah, nearby property owners and others. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, SEDA has 
included net costs of $8,723,752 and $5,453,498, respectively, in relation to the purchase and development 
of these land tracts in real property held for sale or development in the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements. This valuation is in accordance with the policy of recording real property held for sale 
or development at the lower of SEDA’s cost or market value and is consistent with the understanding 
established with Chatham County.  

During 2022, SEDA incurred costs of $1,535,856 related to construction bonds for the development of 
utilities, a water lift station and a road at the Savannah Chatham Manufacturing Center and this amount is 
included in deposits on the accompanying consolidated statements of net position at December 31, 2023 
and 2022. 
 
NOTE 9 - DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
 
In 2010, SEDA entered into an agreement with Gulfstream under which SEDA committed $2,500,000 to 
aid in Gulfstream’s expansion. The project was completed in September 2012, and the deferred outflow of 
resources for SEDA totaled $1,752,392. SEDA will receive payments from Gulfstream for 20 years in lieu 
of Gulfstream paying property taxes. Amortization began in September 2012 and will continue over the 
established payment period of 20 years. Amortization expense related to these deferred outflows of 
resources totaled $87,620 for each of the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the net value was 
$759,370 and $846,990, respectively, at December 31, 2023 and 2022. 

In 2022, SEDA entered into an agreement with Chatham County under which the County awarded SEDA 
$3,125,766 in Georgia Department of Transportation Local Maintenance Improvement Grant (LMIG) 
funds to assist SEDA in the construction of a road that services an industrial park. SEDA expended these 
LMIG funds and additional operating funds of $2,850,234 in 2022 related to the construction of the road. 
SEDA entered into an agreement with a developer of the industrial park in which SEDA will receive 
payments from the developer for 15 years in lieu of the developer paying property taxes. SEDA has 
recorded $2,850,234 as deferred outflows of resources related to this agreement as of December 31, 2022. 
Amortization began in January 2023 and will continue over the established payment period of 15 years. 
Amortization expense related to these deferred outflows of resources totaled $190,015 for the year ended 
December 31, 2023 and the net value was $2,660,218 at December 31, 2023. 
 
NOTE 10 - RETIREMENT PLAN 
 
SEDA sponsors a defined contribution 401(k) plan and matches employee contributions to the Plan up to 
6% of each employee’s compensation. Employees must be over the age of 21 with six months of service to 
receive the matching contribution. These contributions are made each pay period based on each 
participating employee’s elected deferral amount. Expenses related to the plan totaled $102,996 and 
$99,256 for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

Draf
t 4

-2-
20

24



 

18 

NOTE 11 - NOTE PAYABLE 
 
In November 2020, SEDA was awarded a $6,500,000 loan from the Georgia Environmental Finance 
Authority (GEFA) to develop the water and drainage infrastructure, including a water tower, at the 
Bloomingdale Industrial Development Park in west Chatham County. The loan bears interest of 1.22% and 
has a term of fifteen years from the date of the first required principal payment. SEDA executed the loan in 
2021 and withdrew $3,830,283 in GEFA loan funds in 2022. SEDA has agreed to administer the GEFA 
loan, manage the construction project and contribute $339,731 of SEDA funds to the project. Developers 
of the industrial park agreed to reimburse SEDA for the costs of the project and to repay the GEFA loan. 
The project was completed in 2023 and development costs related to the project totaled $8,168,095. 

At December 31, 2022, there are amounts receivable from developers of $4,067,266 included in accounts 
receivable and $3,184,153 in restricted cash on the accompanying consolidated statement of net position 
related to this project. During 2022, SEDA paid interest totaling $17,921 related to the GEFA loan. At 
December 31, 2023, there are amounts receivable from developers of $3,468,877 included in accounts 
receivable and $342,003 in restricted cash on the accompanying consolidated statement of net position 
related to this project. During 2023, SEDA paid interest totaling $46,772 and principal totaling $19,403 
related to the GEFA loan.  

Future minimum payments on the GEFA loan are as follows: 

Year ending
December 31, Principal Interest

2024 234,374$     45,185$       
2025 237,249       42,310         
2026 240,160       39,399         
2027 243,106       36,453         
2028 246,089       33,470         

Thereafter 2,609,902     162,385       

Total 3,810,880$   359,202$      
 
NOTE 12 - GRANT AWARDS 
 
On May 28, 2010, SEDA was authorized to borrow funds from the OneGeorgia Authority to provide a 
portion of the funding for the site preparation, infrastructure improvements, construction of the rail spur 
and other facilities relating to the acquisition, construction and equipping of the Mitsubishi Power Systems 
Americas, Inc. (Mitsubishi) facility in Chatham County, Georgia. The loan, which was in the form of an 
Economic Development, Growth and Expansion (EDGE) award, was for $5,000,000 and for a term of 13 
years. Disbursements from the total loan amount were passed to SEDA representing incurred actual costs. 
This agreement has an interest rate of one percent per annum. The loan was repaid by SEDA in equal 
annual installments, solely from the payments in lieu of tax (PILOT) payments received from Mitsubishi. 

SEDA requested, received and disbursed a total of $5,000,000 of loan funds related to site preparation, 
water and sewer connections, rail construction and professional services expense for the Mitsubishi site. 
Mitsubishi began making required payments to SEDA in 2014. SEDA receives annual payments from 
Mitsubishi per the payment schedule and SEDA subsequently remits loan payments to OneGeorgia. Due to 
the timing of these payment receipts and disbursements, there may be a receivable or payable recorded 
related to this agreement at year end.  

There was a balance receivable of $573,820 and a balance payable of $504,167 related to this agreement in 
the accompanying consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2022. The amount receivable of 
$573,820 was received in January 2023 and the amount payable of $504,167 was subsequently paid to the 
OneGeorgia Authority, representing the final payment of the EDGE award. 

Draf
t 4

-2-
20

24



 

19 

NOTE 12 - GRANT AWARDS (continued) 
 
On March 21, 2018, SEDA was awarded a OneGeorgia Authority Equity Fund Award of $900,000 to be 
used for a water tank and fire suppression infrastructure at the east campus of the Savannah Airport. There 
were no transactions related to this award during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. The total 
grant award was received and expended in prior years, and the award was closed in 2023. 

On March 26, 2019, SEDA was awarded a OneGeorgia Authority Regional Economic Business Assistance 
(REBA) Award of $1,500,000 to be used for machinery and equipment at a Chatham County logistical 
center. There were no transactions related to this award during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 
2022. The total grant award has been received and expended in prior years, and the award is expected to be 
closed once the award period is over. 

On December 10, 2019, SEDA was awarded a OneGeorgia Authority REBA Award of $1,000,000 to be 
used for machinery and equipment at a Chatham County logistical center. In 2020, $999,636 was 
requested related to the project and was subsequently disbursed by OneGeorgia. In February 2024, SEDA 
requested and DCA approved a de-obligation of the remaining $364 that was unspent from this award. 
There were no transactions related to this award during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. The 
total grant award has been received and expended in prior years, and the award is expected to be closed 
once the award period is over. 

In November 2019, SEDA entered into an agreement with the Georgia Department of Community Affairs 
(DCA), in which $400,000 was appropriated for a preliminary needs assessment for the development of a 
Savannah logistics innovation hub. In 2020, SEDA requested $154,522 from DCA related to this 
agreement and this amount was subsequently received from DCA. In 2022 and 2021, SEDA requested 
$128,214 and $90,431, respectively, from DCA related to this agreement and these amounts were 
subsequently received from DCA. On July 1, 2023, the DCA and SEDA entered into a fourth extension of 
the original agreement in which an additional $650,000 was appropriated for the Savannah logistics 
innovation hub activities. The amendment of the agreement extends the term of the grant through June 30, 
2024. In 2023, SEDA requested $146,533 from the DCA related to this agreement and these amounts were 
subsequently received from the DCA.  
 
NOTE 13 - TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 
 
SEDA is the owner of ten units of and is the sole member of SEDA I, LLC, a Georgia Limited Liability 
Company formed April 18, 2007. The President and CEO of SEDA serves as the Manager of SEDA I, 
LLC. SEDA I, LLC owns ten percent of Northpoint Office Center II, LLC and Northpoint Office Center 
III, LLC which lease property from SEDA (Crossroads Business Center). In November 2012, SEDA 
entered into an agreement with Northpoint Office Center V, LLC in which SEDA contributed 3.15 acres of 
the property held for sale in exchange for fifteen percent ownership in Northpoint Office Center V, LLC. 
SEDA assigned the ownership to SEDA I, LLC. Thus, all income related to this agreement flows through 
SEDA I, LLC.  

There are certain members of the Board of Directors of SEDA who provide paid services at market rates to 
SEDA. 

The Savannah Harbor-Interstate 16 Corridor Joint Development Authority (the JDA) was formed in late 
2014 and incorporated in 2015. The JDA members include SEDA as the Chatham County economic 
development authority along with the economic development authorities of the Georgia counties of Bryan, 
Bulloch, and Effingham. SEDA made grants of $0 and $144,153 to the JDA during 2023 and 2022, 
respectively, and is also responsible for the administration of the JDA. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, 
a net receivable of $59,771 and $610,641, respectively, from the JDA is included in SEDA’s consolidated 
statements of net position. During 2023, SEDA paid $5,210,290 to Chatham County for the County to 
contribute to the JDA’s development project. These payments are included in noncurrent accounts 
receivable on the accompanying statement of financial position at December 31, 2023, in accordance with 
SEDA’s agreement with Chatham County. 

Draf
t 4

-2-
20

24



 

20 

NOTE 13 - TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (continued) 
 
World Trade Center Savannah, LLC (WTCSav), wholly owned by SEDA, is consolidated in the SEDA 
financial statements as of December 31, 2023 and 2022. The following are included in the SEDA 
consolidated financial statements for WTCSav: 

2023 2022
ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents - WTCSav 1,508,365$      1,176,199$      
Accounts receivable and other assets 36,500            31,650            

Total assets 1,544,865$      1,207,849$      

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 20,201$           3,007$            

Total liabilities 20,201            3,007              

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 83,745            80,429            

NET POSITION
SEDA contribution 128,802           6,339              
Retained earnings 1,312,117        1,118,074        

Total net position 1,440,919        1,124,413        

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and net position 1,544,865$      1,207,849$      

December 31,

 
 

2023 2022

Revenues - WTCSav 522,866$         474,766$         

Expenses - WTCSav (328,821)         (211,441)         

Net income before allocations 194,045           263,325           

Allocated expenses
Direct allocation (239,450)         (222,388)         
Indirect allocation (197,016)         (178,130)         

Total allocations (436,466)         (400,518)         

Net gain (loss) after allocations (242,421)$        (137,193)$        

For the years ended

December 31,

 
 
 

Draf
t 4

-2-
20

24



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 
 

Draf
t 4

-2-
20

24



 

22 

Contract Contract
Contract number Contract Contract receivable payable

Contract title and period revenues expenses at 12/31/23 at 12/31/23

Georgia Department of Community Affairs
OneGeorgia Authority Regional 
Economic Business Assistance 
(REBA) Award

19pd-025-3-4946
3/26/19 - 4/1/24 -$              -$              -$              -$              

Georgia Department of Community Affairs
OneGeorgia Authority Regional 
Economic Business Assistance 
(REBA) Award

20pd-025-3-4988
12/10/19 - 1/31/25 -                -                -                -                

-$              -$              -$              -$              

SAVANNAH ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF ONEGEORGIA AWARDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

 
 

Draf
t 4

-2-
20

24



 

23 

Total award year 2023 funds allocated to recipient -$                      -$                      

Less: Total award year 2023 funds drawn by recipient -                        -                        

Funds still available from award year 2023 resources -$                      -$                      

Total award year 2023 funds drawn and received by recipient in 2023 -$                      -$                      

Less: Funds applied and expended to award year 2023 costs -                        -                        

Total award year 2023 funds held by recipient -$                      -$                      

OneGeorgia
REBA Award

19pd-025-3-4946

OneGeorgia
REBA Award

20pd-025-3-4988

SAVANNAH ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
SOURCE AND APPLICATION OF FUNDS SCHEDULE

ONEGEORGIA AWARDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

 
 
 

Draf
t 4

-2-
20

24



 

24 

Award Project Activity
Activity 
Number

Latest 
Approved 

Budget 
OneGeorgia 

Funds

Accumulative 
Expenditures 

To Date 
OneGeorgia 

Funds

Accumulative 
Expenditures 

To Date 
Other Funds

Grand Total 
Expenditures

to Date

OneGeorgia REBA Award
    19pd-025-3-4946

Purchase or Lease of 
Machinery & Equipment G50-1501-I 1,500,000$    1,500,000$    49,776,515$   51,276,515$   

OneGeorgia REBA Award
    20pd-025-3-4988

Purchase or Lease of 
Machinery & Equipment G50-1501-I 999,636$       999,636$       88,490,235$   89,489,871$   

Total 2,499,636$    2,499,636$    138,266,750$ 140,766,386$ 

SAVANNAH ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

PROJECT COST SCHEDULE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

ONEGEORGIA AWARDS

 
 
 

 
  
 

Draf
t 4

-2-
20

24



 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and 
Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with 

Government Auditing Standards 
 

 
To the Board of Directors of 
Savannah Economic Development Authority 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States, the consolidated financial statements of the business-type activities of 
Savannah Economic Development Authority (SEDA), as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023, and the 
related notes to the consolidated financial statements, which collectively comprise SEDA’s basic financial 
statements and have issued our report thereon dated April 9, 2024.  

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered SEDA’s internal control over 
financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of SEDA’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an 
opinion on the effectiveness of SEDA’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management 
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial 
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, 
yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses 
or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in 
internal controls that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that 
have not been identified.  

Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether SEDA’s financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and 
grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the financial statements. 
However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and 
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance 
or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

Draf
t 4

-2-
20

24



 

 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or on 
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not 
suitable for any other purpose. 

 

 

 

Holland, Bromley, Barnhill & Brett, LLP 
Savannah, Georgia 
April 9, 2024 

Draf
t 4

-2-
20

24



DocuSign Envelope ID: D12A61D9-A873-4244-AF87-59638F2B1AD8

ksatterthwaite
Confidential



DocuSign Envelope ID: D12A61D9-A873-4244-AF87-59638F2B1AD8

ksatterthwaite
Confidential



DocuSign Envelope ID: D12A61D9-A873-4244-AF87-59638F2B1AD8

ksatterthwaite
Confidential



DocuSign Envelope ID: D12A61D9-A873-4244-AF87-59638F2B1AD8

ksatterthwaite
Confidential



DocuSign Envelope ID: D12A61D9-A873-4244-AF87-59638F2B1AD8

ksatterthwaite
Confidential



DocuSign Envelope ID: D12A61D9-A873-4244-AF87-59638F2B1AD8

ksatterthwaite
Confidential



DocuSign Envelope ID: D12A61D9-A873-4244-AF87-59638F2B1AD8

ksatterthwaite
Confidential



DocuSign Envelope ID: D12A61D9-A873-4244-AF87-59638F2B1AD8

ksatterthwaite
Confidential



DocuSign Envelope ID: D12A61D9-A873-4244-AF87-59638F2B1AD8

ksatterthwaite
Confidential



DocuSign Envelope ID: D12A61D9-A873-4244-AF87-59638F2B1AD8

ksatterthwaite
Confidential



DocuSign Envelope ID: D12A61D9-A873-4244-AF87-59638F2B1AD8

ksatterthwaite
Confidential



DocuSign Envelope ID: D12A61D9-A873-4244-AF87-59638F2B1AD8

ksatterthwaite
Confidential



DocuSign Envelope ID: D12A61D9-A873-4244-AF87-59638F2B1AD8

ksatterthwaite
Confidential



DocuSign Envelope ID: D12A61D9-A873-4244-AF87-59638F2B1AD8

ksatterthwaite
Confidential



DocuSign Envelope ID: D12A61D9-A873-4244-AF87-59638F2B1AD8

ksatterthwaite
Confidential



DocuSign Envelope ID: D12A61D9-A873-4244-AF87-59638F2B1AD8

ksatterthwaite
Confidential



DocuSign Envelope ID: D12A61D9-A873-4244-AF87-59638F2B1AD8

ksatterthwaite
Confidential



DocuSign Envelope ID: D12A61D9-A873-4244-AF87-59638F2B1AD8

ksatterthwaite
Confidential



DocuSign Envelope ID: D12A61D9-A873-4244-AF87-59638F2B1AD8

ksatterthwaite
Confidential



DocuSign Envelope ID: D12A61D9-A873-4244-AF87-59638F2B1AD8

ksatterthwaite
Confidential



DocuSign Envelope ID: D12A61D9-A873-4244-AF87-59638F2B1AD8

ksatterthwaite
Confidential



DocuSign Envelope ID: D12A61D9-A873-4244-AF87-59638F2B1AD8

ksatterthwaite
Confidential



DocuSign Envelope ID: D12A61D9-A873-4244-AF87-59638F2B1AD8

ksatterthwaite
Confidential



DocuSign Envelope ID: D12A61D9-A873-4244-AF87-59638F2B1AD8

ksatterthwaite
Confidential



DocuSign Envelope ID: D12A61D9-A873-4244-AF87-59638F2B1AD8

ksatterthwaite
Confidential



DocuSign Envelope ID: D12A61D9-A873-4244-AF87-59638F2B1AD8

ksatterthwaite
Confidential



DocuSign Envelope ID: D12A61D9-A873-4244-AF87-59638F2B1AD8

ksatterthwaite
Confidential



DocuSign Envelope ID: D12A61D9-A873-4244-AF87-59638F2B1AD8

ksatterthwaite
Confidential



DocuSign Envelope ID: D12A61D9-A873-4244-AF87-59638F2B1AD8

ksatterthwaite
Confidential



DocuSign Envelope ID: D12A61D9-A873-4244-AF87-59638F2B1AD8

ksatterthwaite
Confidential



Certificate Of Completion
Envelope Id: D12A61D9A8734244AF8759638F2B1AD8 Status: Completed

Subject:  Letter_City to SEDA_Garage.pdf

Source Envelope: 

Document Pages: 30 Signatures: 2 Envelope Originator: 

Certificate Pages: 4 Initials: 0 Midori Carpenter

AutoNav: Enabled

EnvelopeId Stamping: Enabled

Time Zone: (UTC-05:00) Eastern Time (US & Canada)

305 Fahm Street

Savannah, GA  31401

Midori.Carpenter@Savannahga.Gov

IP Address: 198.217.18.5   

Record Tracking
Status: Original

             4/3/2024 9:55:12 AM

Holder: Midori Carpenter

             Midori.Carpenter@Savannahga.Gov

Location: DocuSign

Signer Events Signature Timestamp
Joseph A. Melder

Jay.Melder@Savannahga.Gov

City Manager

Mayor and Aldermen of the City of Savannah

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication 
(None)

Signature Adoption: Drawn on Device

Using IP Address: 174.195.44.144

Signed using mobile

Sent: 4/3/2024 9:57:08 AM

Viewed: 4/3/2024 10:49:14 AM 

Signed: 4/3/2024 10:49:35 AM

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure: 
      Accepted: 2/7/2022 4:05:25 PM
      ID: f57715c4-0a93-418b-a71f-8c66d444b20f

In Person Signer Events Signature Timestamp

Editor Delivery Events Status Timestamp

Agent Delivery Events Status Timestamp

Intermediary Delivery Events Status Timestamp

Certified Delivery Events Status Timestamp

Carbon Copy Events Status Timestamp

Witness Events Signature Timestamp

Notary Events Signature Timestamp

Envelope Summary Events Status Timestamps
Envelope Sent Hashed/Encrypted 4/3/2024 9:57:08 AM

Certified Delivered Security Checked 4/3/2024 10:49:14 AM

Signing Complete Security Checked 4/3/2024 10:49:35 AM

Completed Security Checked 4/3/2024 10:49:35 AM

Payment Events Status Timestamps

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure

ksatterthwaite
Confidential



ELECTRONIC RECORD AND SIGNATURE DISCLOSURE  

From time to time, City of Savannah (we, us or Company) may be required by law to provide to 

you certain written notices or disclosures. Described below are the terms and conditions for 

providing to you such notices and disclosures electronically through the DocuSign system. 

Please read the information below carefully and thoroughly, and if you can access this 

information electronically to your satisfaction and agree to this Electronic Record and Signature 

Disclosure (ERSD), please confirm your agreement by selecting the check-box next to ‘I agree to 

use electronic records and signatures’ before clicking ‘CONTINUE’ within the DocuSign 

system. 

 

Getting paper copies  

At any time, you may request from us a paper copy of any record provided or made available 

electronically to you by us. You will have the ability to download and print documents we send 

to you through the DocuSign system during and immediately after the signing session and, if you 

elect to create a DocuSign account, you may access the documents for a limited period of time 

(usually 30 days) after such documents are first sent to you. After such time, if you wish for us to 

send you paper copies of any such documents from our office to you, you will be charged a 

$0.00 per-page fee. You may request delivery of such paper copies from us by following the 

procedure described below. 

 

Withdrawing your consent  

If you decide to receive notices and disclosures from us electronically, you may at any time 

change your mind and tell us that thereafter you want to receive required notices and disclosures 

only in paper format. How you must inform us of your decision to receive future notices and 

disclosure in paper format and withdraw your consent to receive notices and disclosures 

electronically is described below. 

 

Consequences of changing your mind  

If you elect to receive required notices and disclosures only in paper format, it will slow the 

speed at which we can complete certain steps in transactions with you and delivering services to 

you because we will need first to send the required notices or disclosures to you in paper format, 

and then wait until we receive back from you your acknowledgment of your receipt of such 

paper notices or disclosures. Further, you will no longer be able to use the DocuSign system to 

receive required notices and consents electronically from us or to sign electronically documents 

from us. 

 

All notices and disclosures will be sent to you electronically  

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure created on: 6/1/2020 10:39:42 AM
Parties agreed to: Joseph A. Melder

ksatterthwaite
Confidential



Unless you tell us otherwise in accordance with the procedures described herein, we will provide 

electronically to you through the DocuSign system all required notices, disclosures, 

authorizations, acknowledgements, and other documents that are required to be provided or made 

available to you during the course of our relationship with you. To reduce the chance of you 

inadvertently not receiving any notice or disclosure, we prefer to provide all of the required 

notices and disclosures to you by the same method and to the same address that you have given 

us. Thus, you can receive all the disclosures and notices electronically or in paper format through 

the paper mail delivery system. If you do not agree with this process, please let us know as 

described below. Please also see the paragraph immediately above that describes the 

consequences of your electing not to receive delivery of the notices and disclosures 

electronically from us. 

 

How to contact City of Savannah:  

You may contact us to let us know of your changes as to how we may contact you electronically, 

to request paper copies of certain information from us, and to withdraw your prior consent to 

receive notices and disclosures electronically as follows: 

To contact us by email send messages to: wprice@savannahga.gov 

 

To advise City of Savannah of your new email address  

To let us know of a change in your email address where we should send notices and disclosures 

electronically to you, you must send an email message to us at wprice@savannahga.gov and in 

the body of such request you must state: your previous email address, your new email 

address.  We do not require any other information from you to change your email address.  

If you created a DocuSign account, you may update it with your new email address through your 

account preferences.  

 

To request paper copies from City of Savannah  

To request delivery from us of paper copies of the notices and disclosures previously provided 

by us to you electronically, you must send us an email to wprice@savannahga.gov and in the 

body of such request you must state your email address, full name, mailing address, and 

telephone number. We will bill you for any fees at that time, if any. 

 

To withdraw your consent with City of Savannah  

To inform us that you no longer wish to receive future notices and disclosures in electronic 

format you may: 

ksatterthwaite
Confidential



i. decline to sign a document from within your signing session, and on the subsequent page, 

select the check-box indicating you wish to withdraw your consent, or you may; 

ii. send us an email to wprice@savannahga.gov and in the body of such request you must state 

your email, full name, mailing address, and telephone number. We do not need any other 

information from you to withdraw consent..  The consequences of your withdrawing consent for 

online documents will be that transactions may take a longer time to process.. 

 

Required hardware and software  

The minimum system requirements for using the DocuSign system may change over time. The 

current system requirements are found here: https://support.docusign.com/guides/signer-guide-

signing-system-requirements.  

 

Acknowledging your access and consent to receive and sign documents electronically  

To confirm to us that you can access this information electronically, which will be similar to 

other electronic notices and disclosures that we will provide to you, please confirm that you have 

read this ERSD, and (i) that you are able to print on paper or electronically save this ERSD for 

your future reference and access; or (ii) that you are able to email this ERSD to an email address 

where you will be able to print on paper or save it for your future reference and access. Further, 

if you consent to receiving notices and disclosures exclusively in electronic format as described 

herein, then select the check-box next to ‘I agree to use electronic records and signatures’ before 

clicking ‘CONTINUE’ within the DocuSign system. 

By selecting the check-box next to ‘I agree to use electronic records and signatures’, you confirm 

that: 

 You can access and read this Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure; and 

 You can print on paper this Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure, or save or send 

this Electronic Record and Disclosure to a location where you can print it, for future 

reference and access; and 

 Until or unless you notify City of Savannah as described above, you consent to receive 

exclusively through electronic means all notices, disclosures, authorizations, 

acknowledgements, and other documents that are required to be provided or made 

available to you by City of Savannah during the course of your relationship with City of 

Savannah. 

https://support.docusign.com/guides/signer-guide-signing-system-requirements
https://support.docusign.com/guides/signer-guide-signing-system-requirements
ksatterthwaite
Confidential


	ADP97C3.tmp
	Board Meeting
	February 13, 2024
	11:00 AM
	PRESENT
	CALL TO ORDER
	ACTION ITEMS
	A) Approval of Minutes from January 4, 2024



	SEDA Financials 2024 01.pdf
	SEDA Financials 2024 01 mda
	SEDA Financials 2024 01 BS
	SEDA Financials 2024 01 IS

	SEDA Financials 2024 02.pdf
	SEDA Financials 2024 02 mda
	SEDA Financials 2024 02 BS
	SEDA Financials 2024 02 IS

	Developm Agr)Forsyth Commons SEDA   City 2024 (00025064-4xAB0B1).pdf
	DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT
	1. Incorporation of the Recitals.
	2. Project.
	3. Bond Authorization.  City hereby agrees to enter into the Intergovernmental Agreement and authorizes the City Manager of City (“City Manager”) to negotiate and execute the final terms of the Intergovernmental Agreement on behalf of City. The Bonds ...
	4. Funding. The construction and development of the Parking Garage will be funded by SEDA on a “progress draw” basis with the net proceeds of the Bonds. City hereby agrees to enter into a construction funding agreement with Forsyth pursuant to which t...
	5. Condominium Declaration and Leases. Upon completion of the construction of the Parking Garage and the Office Buildings, SEDA shall record a condominium declaration (“Declaration”) to create and establish a condominium unit consisting of the Parking...
	Upon completion of the Parking Garage and the Office Building, SEDA will lease the Parking Garage to City (the “City Lease”) and the Office Buildings to Forsyth (the “Forsyth Lease”). The term of the leases shall expire upon the Maturity Date (the “Le...
	Contemporaneously with the execution of the City Lease and the Forsyth Lease, City will enter into a parking lease with Forsyth (as more particularly described below in Section 8) in order to facilitate the development and marketing of the Parking Gar...

	6. Parking Garage Construction Agreement.  SEDA and City shall enter into the Parking Garage Construction Agreement with Forsyth Parking Garage Manager, LLC (“Forsyth Parking”), an affiliate of Forsyth, to act as its construction manager for the Parki...
	7. Parking Garage Management.
	8. Parking Garage Lease.
	9. PILOT Revenue.
	10.   Until the later of the Bond Maturity Date and the date that SEDA has conveyed the Parking Garage to City and the Office Buildings to Forsyth as provided above in Section 5, Forsyth agrees to make an annual payment in lieu of taxes to SEDA (“PILO...
	10. Distribution of PILOT Revenue.  Until the later of the Bond Maturity Date and the date that SEDA has conveyed the Parking Garage to City and the Office Buildings to Forsyth, SEDA will distribute the PILOT payments it receives from Forsyth (the “PI...
	11. Indemnifications.  In addition to the completion guaranty agreement referred to in Section 4, Forsyth will enter into an indemnification agreement with SEDA and City whereby Forsyth shall agree to release and agree to indemnify, defend and hold ha...
	12. Inspection.  During the pendency of construction of the Parking Garage, Forsyth Parking will permit SEDA and City and their respective agents to have access to the Parking Garage at reasonable times to conduct such surveys, studies, inspections an...
	13. Notices.
	14. Time of the Essence.
	15. Entire Agreement.
	16. Successors and Assigns.
	17. Amendment.
	18. Controlling Laws; Venue.
	19. Definitions. As used herein, the following definitions shall apply:
	(a) “Affiliate” shall mean a person or entity that controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, Forsyth.
	(b) “Control” or “Controlled By” means the power to direct the management and policies of an entity, whether through ownership of voting rights or other beneficial interest, by contract or otherwise; or to the acquiring or surviving entity in connecti...
	(c) “Force Majeure” shall mean any event that causes an increase in time and / or cost of construction of the Project, if and so long as such event is caused by natural disaster, fire, earthquake, floods, explosion, extraordinary adverse weather condi...
	(d) “Unforeseen Conditions” shall mean those conditions encountered at the site which are (1) subsurface or otherwise concealed physical conditions which differ materially from those indicated in the contract documents or (2) unknown physical conditio...

	20. Miscellaneous.
	(a) No Assignment.
	(b) Captions and References; Interpretation.
	(c) Severability.
	(d) Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument, and it shall not be necessary in making proof of this Agr...
	(e) Exhibits.  The following exhibits are attached hereto and incorporated by this reference herein:





